THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-04-01118  
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000003

Phillip Ashley, Kevin Craft, and Jimmy Ouzts,..... Respondents.

v.

Anderson County School District Two Board of Trustees,..... Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

David T. Duff (SC Bar #1768)  
David N. Lyon (SC Bar #100676)  
P.O. Box 1486  
Columbia, SC 29202  
Telephone: (803) 790-0603  
Facsimile: (803) 790-0605  
Email: [dduff@dfi-lawfirm.com](mailto:dduff@dfi-lawfirm.com)  
Email: [dlyon@dfi-lawfirm.com](mailto:dlyon@dfi-lawfirm.com)

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the circuit court err in finding a vacancy exists on the Anderson County School District Two Board of Trustees when a Board member emailed an invalid resignation to his fellow Board members and rescinded it three days later, before the resignation was accepted by the Board?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of a dispute between the Respondents, who are three members of the seven-member Anderson County School District Two Board of Trustees, and the Appellant, the Board of Trustees (the “Board”). The dispute is over whether a vacancy exists on the Board as a result of Board member William R. (“Stu”) Shirley sending an email to the Board stating he was resigning from the Board, effective immediately, and three days later, withdrawing his resignation, before the Board took any action to accept it. Respondents sought a declaratory judgment that Shirley had irrevocably resigned and that, as a result, a vacancy was created on the Board. The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox ruled that Shirley had resigned irrevocably, that a vacancy existed on the Board, and that the vacancy should be filled.

## FACTS

Shirley’s emailed resignation followed a contentious Board meeting on Monday, May 13, 2019, during which the Board planned to discuss matters related to the District Superintendent’s contract. (Shirley Aff. ¶ 7). The Board received legal advice that board action negatively affecting the Superintendent’s contract would result in lawsuits against the Board members individually and that any such legal action would not be covered by the District’s insurance policy. (Shirley Aff. ¶ 7). While trying to leave the meeting, Shirley was confronted by three angry men, and he felt physically threatened by them. (Shirley Aff. ¶ 8). Shirley feared that his family might be threatened as well. (Shirley Aff. ¶ 8). Given the threat of litigation against him personally, and perceived threats of harm to him and his family, Shirley decided that he should resign from the Board. (Shirley Aff. ¶ 9).

The next day, Tuesday, May 14, 2019, Shirley emailed his fellow Board members stating that he had decided to resign from the Board, “effective immediately.” (Shirley Aff. ¶ 10).

Although unknown to him at the time, Shirley's emailed resignation was not in compliance with the Board's policy requiring that a board member who intends to resign "... will announce his/her desire to resign from the board and submit a letter of resignation to the chairman of the board at least 30 days prior to the effective date of said resignation." (Shirley Aff. ¶ 11, Exhibit B).

On Friday, May 17, 2019, after further consideration of his hasty decision and pleas from constituents not to resign, Shirley withdrew his resignation by letter addressed to the Board Chairperson, Brenda Cooley. (Shirley Aff. ¶¶ 12-13). Cooley responded that day, acknowledging receipt of the withdrawal of his resignation, and notifying the other Board members. (Shirley Aff. ¶ 14).

At a special called meeting on May 22, 2019, Respondent Board member Phillip Ashley, relying on a legal opinion procured by the Anderson County Board of Education, asserted that Shirley had resigned and that a vacancy existed on the board. (Knight Aff. ¶ 9). Ashley made a motion that Shirley be removed, and the vote failed on a three-to-three tie vote, with Shirley abstaining. (Knight Aff. ¶ 10). Acting Board Chairperson Bonnie Knight<sup>1</sup> then sought a formal opinion from the South Carolina Attorney General as to the effect of Shirley's resignation and subsequent revocation of same. (Knight Aff. ¶ 11).

In an Opinion dated June 4, 2019, the Attorney General's office opined that a court would likely conclude a school board member may revoke a tendered resignation before it is accepted by the Board. 2019 WL 3243933 (S.C.A.G. June 4, 2019). The Opinion reiterated the Attorney General's Office's long-standing understanding of the common law in South Carolina that a public

---

<sup>1</sup> By this time, Board Chair Brenda Cooley was recuperating from medical issues and Knight, as Vice Chair, assumed the position of Acting Board Chair.

officer's resignation is not effective until it has been accepted by the public body obligated to receive it. *Id.* at \*2-3.

On June 14, 2019, Respondents filed a declaratory judgment action, asking the circuit court to declare Shirley's resignation valid and irrevocable. (Complaint). Respondents also asked the Court to issue a "temporary stay of *all matters* before the Defendant Board until such time as the Court has rendered its determination regarding the validity of the Shirley resignation." (Complaint).

On June 27, 2019, the Honorable Judge J. Cordell Maddox held a hearing during which he granted Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Stay in part.<sup>2</sup> (Order, July 1, 2019; Hearing Tr. 8, ln. 15-22). Judge Maddox stated that he would decide the declaratory judgment issue at a later time, either after a hearing or on the briefs which he ordered counsel to provide.<sup>3</sup> (Hearing Tr. 8, ln. 20-24).

On June 28, 2019, the Board filed its Answer and Counterclaim, asserting generally that Shirley's resignation was ineffective *ab initio* because it did not to comply with Board policies, which required 30-days' advance notice of resignation, and that even if it was effective, the withdrawal of Shirley's resignation was valid such that there was no vacancy. (Defendant's Answer).

On July 18, 2019, the parties submitted the briefs ordered by the court.

On November 15, 2019, the circuit court issued an Order declaring that Shirley's resignation "was valid and accepted before revocation occurred" and that a vacancy existed.

---

<sup>2</sup> Specifically, Judge Maddox ordered that Shirley could participate as a lawful Board member in any business before the Board except that he could not vote on District-level hiring or firing decisions. (Hearing Tr. p. 8, ln. 12-23; Order, July 1, 2019).

<sup>3</sup> Ultimately, no further hearing was held, and as a result, no factual record was developed in this case beyond the facts asserted in the filed affidavits.

Order, Nov. 15, 2019. The court ordered a special election in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 8-1-145.

On November 19, 2019, Appellant moved for the court to reconsider its Order pursuant to Rule 59(e) SCRPC. Appellant asserted, among other things, that the court had wrongly determined that § 8-1-145 was applicable to and governed Shirley's resignation such that it was irrevocable and that no acceptance by the Board was required. Additionally, Appellant requested that the court reconsider the portion of its order, ordering a special election, on the grounds that as governed by local legislation, any vacancy on the Board is to be filled through appointment by the Anderson County Board of Education. *See* Act No. 227, 1983; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-19-60. Also, Appellant asserted that the Order relied upon disputed facts regarding alleged actions by the Board tending to suggest that Shirley's resignation had been accepted.

On November 27, 2019, the court issued an Amended Order, which only changed the final line of the Order, directing that the vacancy "be filled pursuant to the relevant laws of South Carolina," rather than via a special election as the previous order had stated.

Thereafter, and following an off-the record conference between the court and counsel for the parties, the court determined no further hearing was necessary for the court to rule on the effect of Shirley's emailed resignation. On December 23, 2019, the court generally denied Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion and issued its final Order.<sup>4</sup> The court ruled that "due to the effective resignation of Shirley, the Court finds there to be a vacancy on the Board of Anderson County School District Two and orders the vacancy to be filled pursuant to the relevant laws of South Carolina."

On January 2, 2020, the Board served and filed its Notice of Appeal.

---

<sup>4</sup> The court removed the disputed facts from its Order and noted that the issue of the Board's acceptance of Shirley's resignation was removed as a basis for finding for the Respondents.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” *Felts v. Richland Cty.*, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991); *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 301, 772 S.E.2d 163, 168 (2015). An action involving the interpretation of statutes is an action at law. *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Rollison*, 378 S.C. 600, 606-07, 663 S.E.2d 484, 487 (2008). In an action at law, tried without a jury, the scope of appellate review “extends merely to the correction of errors of law.” *Id.* (quoting *Barnacle Broad., Inc. v. Baker Broad., Inc.*, 343 S.C. 140, 146, 538 S.E.2d 672, 675 (Ct. App. 2000)). “Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which this Court is free to decide without any deference to the tribunal below.” *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016).

## ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in finding a vacancy exists on the Anderson County School District Two Board of Trustees because Shirley’s resignation was void *ab initio*, but even if it was valid, it was withdrawn three days after it was sent to the Board and before the Board accepted it. This Court should reverse the lower court’s ruling.

**a. Shirley’s emailed resignation was void *ab initio* because it did not comply with the Board’s policies.**

District Two Board Policy BBBC, provides that a Board member who intends to resign “... will announce his/her desire to resign from the board and submit a letter of resignation to the chairman of the board *at least 30 days prior to the effective date of said resignation.*” (Shirley Aff. ¶ 11, Ex. B) (emphasis added). Thus, Shirley’s email stating he wished to resign “effective immediately” did not comply with the Board’s own policies and was therefore not an effective

resignation. Accordingly, it was void *ab initio*, and the Board could not have accepted it, even if it had not been withdrawn three days later.

**b. Even if his emailed resignation was proper and valid, Shirley was entitled to withdraw it before it was accepted by the Board.**

For more than 100 years, the law in South Carolina has been that a public official may withdraw his or her resignation “at any time until the proper authority receives and accepts it.” *State v. Stickley*, 80 S.C. 64, 61 S.E. 211, 213 (1908). Our Supreme Court adopted this principle in *Stickley*, which involved a factual scenario remarkably similar to the facts alleged here. In that case, the Town of Port Royal’s Intendent, John Stickley, submitted a letter to the Wardens of the town stating: “Gentlemen: Please accept my resignation to take effect at once. Yours respectfully, [Signed] John Stickley.” *Id.* at 64, 61 S.E. at 211. Like Shirley in the instant case, Stickley withdrew his resignation three days later at the request of voters in the town. *Id.* The question before the Court was “whether a public officer, who has tendered his resignation unconditionally, can withdraw the same before acceptance.” *Id.* at 64, 61 S.E. at 213. The Court considered but rejected a line of case law holding that an unconditional resignation is irrevocable as soon as it is offered and cannot be withdrawn. *Id.* Instead, the Court adopted the common law principle from a separate line of cases holding that “resignation of a public officer is not complete until it is either expressly or by implication accepted by the proper authorities.” *Id.* Accordingly, “[u]ntil the tender or offer to resign is accepted by the proper authority, it can be withdrawn.” *Id.*

*Stickley* remains good law in South Carolina. *See, e.g., Rogers v. Coleman*, 245 S.C. 32, 34, 138 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1964) (assuming that resignations must be accepted by the public body to be effective). The Attorney General’s office has repeatedly relied upon *Stickley* in opinions regarding the effectiveness of resignations of public officials and revocations of resignations, including the resignation at issue in this case. *See* 2019 WL 3243933 (S.C.A.G. June 4, 2019);

2015 WL 992703, at \*2 (S.C.A.G. Feb. 20, 2015); 2013 WL 5763372, at \*2 (S.C.A.G. Oct. 10, 2013); 1996 WL 549527, at \*2 (S.C.A.G. Aug. 7, 1996); 1986 WL 192036 (S.C.A.G. July 10, 1986); *See also S.C. Jur. Public Officers and Public Employees* § 45 (“Mere announcement of a public officer's intent to resign is insufficient to effectuate the resignation. Rather, the public officer must intend to resign, actually tender his resignation, *and have the resignation accepted* by the appropriate public body.” (emphasis added)); 3 *McQuillin Mun. Corp.* § 12:173.4, *Resignation of Officer* (3d ed.) (“Where the law requires that a resignation be acted upon, the resignation clearly can be withdrawn before it is acted upon.”).

*Stickley* is nearly identical both factually and legally to the instant case. Like Port Royal’s Intendent *Stickley*, Board member Shirley submitted a written resignation to the Board, the proper authority to receive it. Three days later, prior to the Board meeting or taking any action, Shirley withdrew the resignation and resumed his participation as a Board member. Accordingly, pursuant to *Stickley*, Shirley’s withdrawal of his resignation was valid, it rescinded his resignation, and, accordingly, no vacancy was created on the Board.

**c. Shirley’s emailed resignation was not made pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 8-1-145 and was not intended to be irrevocable.**

“The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible.” *Mitchell v. City of Greenville*, 411 S.C. 632, 634, 770 S.E.2d 391, 392 (2015). Where a statute's language is plain and unambiguous, “the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). Where, as here, “the language of the statute gives rise to doubt or uncertainty as to legislative intent, the construing court looks to the statute's language as a whole in light of its manifest purpose.” *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. 643, 655, 685 S.E.2d 814, 821 (Ct. App. 2009).

“The construing court may additionally look to the legislative history when determining the legislative intent.” *Id.*

Section 8-1-145 states:

- (A) A person holding an office in this State filled by a vote of qualified electors may submit a written irrevocable resignation from that office which is effective on a specific date.
- (B) An election must be held in accordance with the provisions of Section 7-13-190 or other applicable provisions of law to fill the office to be vacated as if the vacancy occurred on the date the written irrevocable resignation is submitted.
- (C) The newly elected official may not take office until the vacancy actually occurs.

No court has interpreted this statute. However, the Attorney General’s analysis of this statute as it relates to the facts of this case, to include a consideration of legislative history, is thorough, well-researched, and convincing. *See* 2019 WL 3243933 at \*3-4 (S.C.A.G. June 4, 2019).<sup>5</sup> Appellant adopted, cited to, and incorporated the Attorney General’s analysis in its various filings before the court below and does so here, in advancing the following conclusion about the purpose and proper application of § 8-1-145:

[T]he procedures for calling a special election in Section 8-1-145 are not intended to address every resignation of a public official in all instances. Rather, the legislative intent behind the adoption of Section 8-1-145 appears to address the limited situation where a public officer who holds elective office intends to accept another office, and in such a case to develop a mechanism for initiating a special election at an earlier date than would have otherwise been authorized by law. . . . A court would likely conclude that the General Assembly did not mean to rewrite common law regarding the resignation of public officers, but instead, it merely intended to provide a way for those elective officers who want to accept a new office to resign prospectively and thereby shorten the length of the vacancies that would otherwise occur.

---

<sup>5</sup> While South Carolina courts are not bound by Attorney General opinions, such opinions “should not be disregarded without cogent reason.” *Price v. Watt*, 280 S.C. 510, 513, n. 1, 313 S.E.2d 58, 60 n.1 (Ct. App. 1984).

2019 WL 3243933, at \*5.

Additionally, as discussed in the Attorney General's opinion, § 8-1-145 (A) states that a public official “*may* submit a written irrevocable resignation . . .” (emphasis added), which indicates that submitting resignations that are intended to be irrevocable are permitted, but not mandatory, and do not apply in every case. *Id.* The Attorney General's opinion notes that the prior iteration of the language contained in § 8-1-145 also used the term “*may*”, further bolstering this interpretation. *Id.* Shirley's resignation did not state, nor obviously, did he intend the resignation to be irrevocable, and he did not intend to resign to accept another office.

In sum, statutory construction and legislative history demonstrates that § 8-1-145 was intended to create a process for prospective resignation to allow an elected official to resign from one public body to take a position on another public body. That is not the situation in this case: Shirley was not submitting a resignation so that he could assume another public office. He submitted his resignation for other reasons, and after several days, he reconsidered and properly and lawfully revoked his resignation.

- d. Even if S.C. Code Ann. § 8-1-145 governs Shirley's resignation, it does not explicitly abrogate the common law that a resignation can be withdrawn before it is accepted by the public body.**

As noted above, the rule adopted in *Stickley* and followed ever since is that a public official may rescind his resignation prior to that resignation being accepted by the public body. In its Order, the lower court concluded that because § 8-1-145 does not mention acceptance, the common law acceptance requirement must no longer apply. This is error.

Our Legislature “is presumed to enact legislation with reference to existing law, and there is a strong presumption it does not intend, by statute, to change common law rules.” *Abba Equip., Inc. v. Thomason*, 335 S.C. 477, 483, 517 S.E.2d 235, 238 (Ct. App. 1999). “A strong

presumption also exists that the General Assembly does not intend to supplant common law principles when enacting legislation.” *O’Laughlin v. Windham*, 330 S.C. 379, 384, 498 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 1998). Accordingly, statutes are generally “not to be construed as in derogation of common law rights if another interpretation is reasonable.” *Hoogenboom v. City of Beaufort*, 315 S.C. 306, 318, 433 S.E.2d 875, 884 (Ct. App. 1992), *adhered to on reh’g* (Apr. 29, 1993).

It is true that § 8-1-145 does not mention a requirement that the public official’s resignation be accepted by the public body. However, the fact that acceptance is not mentioned in § 8-1-145 is not evidence that the legislature intended to do away with this requirement generally. To conclude that the legislature intended to eliminate the acceptance requirement, without their being explicit language to that effect, would be in derogation of the common law principle recognized in the *Stickley* case. Moreover, there is a reasonable interpretation of section 8-1-145 that is harmonious with the common law. Specifically, the prospective resignation procedure under § 8-1-145 would still need to be presented to and accepted by the public body that would be losing a member so that the body could initiate the necessary steps to fill the vacancy.

In this case, the Board took no action, formal or otherwise, in the three days between Shirley emailing his resignation and his subsequent withdrawal of the same.<sup>6</sup> Moreover, no Board meeting was called to address the attempted resignation wherein the Board might have accepted

---

<sup>6</sup> The lower court stated there was “no authority to indicate that a formal board measure had to be taken for acceptance to occur.” Order 3-4, Nov. 15, 2019. There was no discussion below regarding what form Board acceptance would take, and there is no Board policy directly on point. However, because the Board must take action as a body, the Board would likely “accept” the member’s resignation by voting to begin the necessary procedures to fill the vacancy. Such a process is not inconsistent with § 8-1-145, specifically subsection (C), which is, at least in part, concerned with establishing the date on which the technical vacancy occurs. *See Bradford v. Byrnes*, 221 S.C. 255, 262, 70 S.E.2d 228, 231 (1952) (explaining that even as “public officers hold over *de facto* until their successors are appointed or elected and qualify . . . [v]acancy nevertheless exists in the sense that successors may be appointed or elected as may be provided by law, qualify and take the offices . . .”).

the resignation. Since Shirley's attempted resignation was not acted upon prior to its withdrawal, it had no lasting, legal effect. Therefore, Shirley's signed, written, withdrawal of his resignation was effective. In short, no vacancy was ever created, none exists now, and Shirley should retain his seat as a Board member.

### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the decision of the lower court finding Shirley's resignation was irrevocable resulting in a vacancy on the Board should be reversed.