**APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

**Case No. 2019-CP-04-011185
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000003**

Phillip Ashley, Kevin Craft and Jimmy Ouzts.....Respondents.

v.

Anderson County School District Two Board of TrusteesAppellants

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

**Bruce A. Byrholdt (S.C. Bar No. 1071)
BYRHOLDT DRAWDY
2315 N. Main Street, Ste. 117
Anderson, SC 29621
864-261-3977**

RECEIVED
JUL 02 2020
SC Court of Appeals

**Law Offices of Kurt Tavernier, P.A.
Kurt Tavernier (S.C.Bar No. 12991)
117 West Benson Street
Anderson, SC 29624
864-222-9142
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS**

**APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The Circuit Court did not err in finding Shirley's Resignation was valid and declaring a vacancy on Anderson District Two Board of Trustees.
 - a. Shirley's Resignation was not void *ab initio* as against board policy because Shirley was not aware of the policy.
 - b. Appellant's reliance on State v. Stickley is misplaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case originates from the submittal of an emailed resignation by William R. "Stu" Shirley (Shirley) from the Anderson County School District 2, Board of Trustees (Board). Shirley sent the resignation to the other Board members, the School District Superintendent, the I.T. coordinator for the School District, the H.R. director for the School District and the local newspaper editor. The email stated "effective immediately, I resign". (Tr. p. 101). The resignation further stated that Shirley's school email account was no longer required and a directive that the resignation letter may be published in the newspaper. (Tr. p. 101). Three days later Shirley sent a letter to the Board Chairperson Brenda Cooley (Cooley), attempting to withdraw his resignation. (Tr. p. 103). Cooley claims to have "accepted" Shirley's attempted rescission on behalf of the Board. (Tr. p. 104). However, Cooley did not have the authority to take such action.

The Respondents in this matter are three Board members Phillip Ashley (Ashley), Kevin Craft (Craft) and Jimmy Ouzts (Ouzts) who took issue with the Cooley's handling of Mr. Shirley's attempted rescission on behalf of the Board

FACTS

The Board held its regularly scheduled meeting on May 13, 2019. During that meeting in executive session the Board received advice from its legal counsel that suggested if the Board took action to terminate the superintendent's contract it could possibly lead to legal action against the Board members individually and their actions might not be covered by the District's insurance policy.

On or about May 14, 2019, a member of the Defendant Board, Stu Shirley, (Shirley) tendered an

email bearing **Subject: Resignation.** (Tr. p. 1010) The Email was dated May 14, 2019 and was addressed to the acting Chairperson¹ of the Defendant Board, the other trustees of the Defendant Board, Dr. Richard Rosenberger, Elaine Rider with the News Chronicle, a local newspaper, Susan Shirley and Lester McCall. The Email contained an irrevocable resignation which stated: "Therefore, effective immediately, I resign." (Tr. p. 101).

As a result of the distribution of the Email to the respective parties, Shirley's name was removed from the School District Two School Board website and his email account was closed. In addition, the Belton News Chronicle published news of Shirley's resignation the very next day, on May 15, 2019, notifying the public at large of his resignation. (Tr. p. 102).

On or about May 17, 2019 Shirley submitted a letter, attempting to rescind his previously submitted irrevocable resignation. (Tr. p. 103). This letter was directed solely to the Defendant Board Chair, Brenda Cooley. However, Ms. Cooley had "abdicated" her position as Chair and turned it over to Vice-Chair Bonnie Knight on May 13, 2019.

That same day, Brenda Cooley, Board Chair, wrote a letter back to Shirley on School District Two letterhead claiming she "accepted" Shirley's attempted rescission on behalf of the Anderson County Board of Trustees District Two. (Tr. p. 104). However, Ms. Cooley cannot do that, either in her individual capacity or as Board Chairperson, because it is a violation of Board Policy BBAA. (Tr. p. 105). As mentioned earlier, Brenda Cooley had "abdicated" her position as Chair and turned it over to Bonnie Knight.

¹ Bonnie Knight is the acting Chairperson due to Brenda Cooley claiming an incapacitating illness as of May 13, 2019, however Cooley still sits on the Board and votes.

The recitation of facts in the Attorney General opinion (Opinion) states "Both letters were sent to all member of our Board, and to the administrator, Mr. Nimmer of the Anderson County Board." (Tr. p. 107). This is incorrect, the resignation email was sent to all Board Members. However, the attempted rescission was only sent to Brent Cooley, Chairperson. (Tr. p. 104). Page 2 of the AG Opinion states: "There is no indication that either the Anderson County School District Two Board of Trustees or the Anderson County Board of Education accepted Stu Shirley's resignation before receiving notification of its withdrawal." (Tr. p. 108). This fact should have been resolved prior to the rendering of the Opinion. However, that begs the question: how does one not accept an irrevocable resignation which is "effective immediately"?

On or about May 22, 2019 Joey Nimmer, Administrator of the Anderson County Board of Education, received an email from an attorney (Ms. Lonesse Williams, with White & Story). (Tr. p. 116 – 117).

The Board held a special called meeting on May 23, 2019. Ashley relying upon a legal opinion from the Anderson County Board of Education asserted Shirley had resigned and a vacancy existed on the Board. (Tr. p. 40, para. 9). Ashley moved that Shirley be removed, and the vote failed on a three-three vote, with Shirley not participating in the vote. (Tr. p. 40, para. 10). Knight sought an opinion from the South Carolina Attorney General to the effect of Shirley's resignation and subsequent revocation of his resignation. (Tr. p. 40, para. 11).

Respondents assert that facts presented to the Attorney General were incorrect and did not accurately present the facts to support the opinion. (Tr. p. 107 – 114).

When the other four member of Board refused to cooperate in filing a joint submittal with the

Circuit Court to determine the issue of Shirley's resignation, Respondents were left no choice but to file on June 14, 2019, a declaratory judgment action requesting the Circuit Court to declare Shirley resignation "effective immediately" valid and irrevocable. (Tr. p. 26 – 30). Respondents' further requested a stay of all matters before the Board pending the decision of the Circuit Court. (Tr. p. 31 - 32).

June 27, 2019, the Court held an off the record conference with all counsel in which the factual background and case procedures were agreed upon. The Court announced on the record how the matter would be handled going forward and that the parties had agreed that the Shirley could participate in Board business but could not vote on District level hiring or firing decisions. (Tr. p. 144, l. 12-23; Tr. p. 22).

June 28, 2019, Appellants filed its Answer and Counterclaim. (Tr. p. 59 - 66).

The Court ordered the parties to submit briefs by July 18, 2019.

The parties acknowledged that all facts were set forth in pleadings, affidavits and briefs of the parties.

On November 15, 2019, the Court issued its Order declaring Shirley's resignation "was valid and accepted before revocation occurred and a vacancy existed on the Board. (Tr. p. 13 - 18).

November 19, 2019, Appellant moved the Court to reconsider its Order pursuant to S.C.R.Civ.P. 59(e). (Tr. p. 132 – 136).

November 27, 2019, the Court issued an Amended Order which only changed the final sentence, directing the vacancy "be filled pursuant to the relevant laws of South Carolina." (Tr. p. 7 – 12).

Subsequently, the parties and Court conferred off the record, and the Court with no objection by either party, determined no further hearings were necessary for the Court to rule on Shirley's resignation.

On December 23, 2019, the Court denied Appellant's Rule 59 motion and issued its Final Order holding "due to the effective resignation of Shirley, the Court finds a vacancy on the Board of School District Two and orders the vacancy to be filled pursuant to the relevant laws of South Carolina." (Tr. p. 1

- 6)

Appellant served and filed its Notice of Appeal on January 2, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action involving the interpretation of a statute is an action at law. Auto Owners Inc. v. Rollison, 378 S.C. 600, 663 S.E.2d 484 (SC 2008). In an action tried at law without a jury, the scope of appellate review "extends merely to the corrections of errors of law." Barnacle Broad, Inc. v. Baker Broad Inc., 343 S.C. 140, 538 S.E.2d 672 (Ct.App. 2000). A trial court's factual findings will not be disturbed on appeal unless a review of the record disclosed no evidence reasonably supporting the Court's findings. Townes Assocs., Ltd. vs. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976).

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not err in finding Shirley's Resignation was valid and declaring a vacancy on Anderson District Two Board of Trustees.

a. Appellant's argument that Shirley's Resignation was void *ab initio* because it did not comply with board policy is without merit as Shirley was not aware of the Board policy.

Appellant argues Shirley's resignation was invalid because it was not made in compliance with Board policy that a letter of resignation must be submitted to the Chairman of the Board at least 30 days prior to the effective date of resignation. Appellant mistakenly seeks to rely upon the Board policy even

though Shirley was not aware of this policy. (Tr. 52, para. 11).

Respondent further assert statutory law (S.C.Code Sec. 8-1-145) would supersede any board policy.

b. Appellant's argument that Shirley's resignation although effective immediately could be withdrawn under the holding of State v. Stickley is misplaced.

Respondents agree that the law of South Carolina has been a public official may withdraw his or her resignation "at any time until the proper authority receives it and accepts it." State v. Stickley, 80 S.C. 64, 61 S.E. 211 (1908). However, the Circuit Court correctly noted that the Court in Stickley noted its' decision was made in the absence of a statute "(i)n the absence of statute this rule is supported by the better reasoning and greater weight of authorities . . ." Respondents assert the requirements of acceptance and/or withdrawal are no longer necessary in light of S.C. Code of Laws Sec. 8-1-145.

Respondents would also assert this Court should adopt the rationale set forth in State, ex rel. Munroe vs. City of Poulsbo, 109 Wash. App. 672, 37 P.3rd 319 (App. Ct. 2002) in which the Court held a statute must be given its plain meaning and a resignation effective immediately could not be withdrawn."

c. Shirley's resignation fulfilled the requirement set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 8-1-145.

South Carolina Code of Laws Sec. 8-1-145 states: "a person holding office in this State filled by a vote of qualified electors may submit a written irrevocable resignation from that office which is effective on a specific date." Neither, the Attorney General, Appellant or Respondents are aware of any South Carolina court interpreting this statute prior to the Circuit Court in this case. However, a similar issue was addressed the Washington Court of Appeals in State, ex rel. Munroe vs. City of Poulsbo, 109 Wash. App. 672, 37 P.3rd 319 (App. Ct. 2002) in which the Court held a statute must be

given its plain meaning and a resignation effective immediately could not be withdrawn.”

"A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design and policy of the lawmakers." **Browning v. Hartvigsen**, 307 S.C. 122, 125, 414 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1992). The Court should give words "their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." **Sloan v. S.C. Bd. Of Physical Therapy Exam'rs.**, 370 S.C. 342, 469, 636 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2006). Appellants continued attempts to limit the authority of the statute despite its plain meaning is contrary to the Court's holding in **Sloan v. S.C. Bd. Of Physical Therapy Exam'rs.**, 370 S.C. 342, 469, 636 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2006). There, as set forth by Judge Maddox in his Order states "The Court should give words "their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." **Sloan v. S.C. Bd. Of Physical Therapy Exam'rs.**, 370 S.C. 342, 469, 636 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2006).

Respondents agree with the Circuit Court’s finding that Shirley’s resignation was effective immediately under the clear, unambiguous language of Sec. 8-1-145 and there is no authority to indicate a formal board measure must be taken for acceptance to occur and a vacancy exists on Anderson School District Two Board of Trustees.

The Appellant's continued reliance on the Attorney General's opinion is misplaced. As Judge Maddox clearly stated in his Order, "the Attorney General was forced to issue its opinion based on a request that did not include a comprehensive recitation of the issue before the Court." (Tr. p. 4). Judge Maddox was apprised of the facts and circumstances in their totality and based upon the facts determined their applicability under S.C. Code § 8 – 1- 145.

CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully request the Order filed December 23, 2019 be affirmed.